#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDMUND MADY Fla. S. Ct. No. SC08-808

DCA No. 07-842

Petitioner,

v.

DAIMLERCHRYSLER CORPORATION,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review From The

Fourth District Court Of Appeal

State Of Florida

#### Aaron D. Radbil

Florida Bar No. 0047117 Krohn & Moss, Ltd. 120 West Madison Street 10th Floor Chicago, Illinois 60602

Phone: (312) 578-9428 ext. 281

Facsimile: (866) 431-5576

Counsel for the Plaintiff / Petitioner

####

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner in this case, Edmund Mady, is referred to herein as "Plaintiff." The Respondent in this case, DaimlerChrysler Corporation, is referred to herein as "Defendant." Citations to the Appellate Record are indicated as "(Vol.\_\_, pp.\_\_)." Citations to Plaintiff's appendix are indicated as "(App.\_\_)."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about May 25, 2003 Plaintiff leased a 2003 Dodge Viper ("Viper") from Fairbanks Dodge ("Lessor"). (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). Prior, or contemporaneous to Plaintiff's lease of the Viper, Lessor purchased the Viper to lease to Plaintiff. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). In consideration for the purchase of the Viper, Defendant issued and supplied to Lessor a written warranty, which included three (3) year or thirty-six thousand (36,000) mile bumper to bumper coverage, as well as other warranties fully outlined in the Manufacturer's New Vehicle Limited Warranty Booklet. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). On or about May 25, 2003, with approximately one hundred ninety-five (195) miles on the Viper, Lessor assigned its rights in Defendant's written warranty to Plaintiff. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67).

Shortly after Plaintiff took possession of the Viper Plaintiff experienced various defects with the Viper that substantially impaired the use, value, and safety of the Viper. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). Plaintiff tendered the Viper to Defendant's authorized dealerships on numerous occasions in effort to provide Defendant a

reasonable opportunity to cure the problems associated with the Viper. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). Defendant failed to repair the Viper and conform it to the condition called for by the three (3) year or thirty-six thousand (36,000) mile warranty outlined in the Manufacturer New Car Warranty Booklet. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67).

Frustrated with Defendant's inability or unwillingness to repair the Viper, Plaintiff revoked acceptance of the Viper. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). Defendant refused to repurchase the Viper and provide Plaintiff with remedies to which Plaintiff was entitled upon revocation. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). Plaintiff, left with no other recourse, brought suit pursuant to provisions of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). Plaintiff prayed for a return of all monies paid, satisfaction of all liens, diminution in value of the vehicle, all incidental and consequential damages incurred, and all reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred. (Vol. 1, pp.1-67).

On or about December 16, 2005, Defendant served Plaintiff with a proposal for settlement, pursuant to Section 768.79 of the Florida Statues, and Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442, in the amount of \$8,500.00, *exclusive* of all interest, costs, and attorney's fees. (Vol. 1, pp. 150). Defendant previously served Plaintiff with a proposal for settlement in the amount of \$6,500.00, exclusive of all interest, costs, and attorney's fees. (Vol. 1, pp. 140). Defendant's December 16, 2005 "Proposal of Settlement Exclusive of Attorneys Fees" reads in part:

Defendant, DaimlerChrysler Corporation ("DaimlerChrysler"), by and through its undersigned counsel and pursuant to Fla. R.

Civ. P. 1.442 and §768.79, Fla. Stat. hereby proposes settlement ("proposal") to Plaintiff Edmund Mady, under which Defendant DaimlerChrysler shall pay to Plaintiff the total sum of **EIGHT THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND xx/100** (\$8,500.00), exclusive of all interest, costs, and attorney's fees and in support thereof would state as follows:

\* \* \*

Plaintiff's acceptance would settle all causes of action and/or counts against DaimlerChrysler, including Plaintiff's claims for damages. This proposal is made exclusive of attorney's fees, interest and costs allegedly incurred as a result of this action.

Edmund Mady will receive **EIGHT THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND xx/100 (\$8,500.00) exclusive of attorney's fees**.

DaimlerChrysler does not admit liability for any of the causes of action asserted in Plaintiff's Complaint by extending this proposal for settlement. Moreover, Defendant DaimlerChrysler does not concede that Plaintiff or his attorney's are entitled to any award of attorney's fees as a result of this proposal for settlement or Plaintiff filing of his Complaint in this action. However, DaimlerChrysler concedes that Plaintiff may seek to prove entitlement to attorney's fees through a hearing before this Court.

(Vol. 1, pp. 194-200) (emphasis added).

Defendant's Release and Confidentiality Agreement, presented in connection with Defendant's Proposal for Settlement, states:

B. The parties desire to enter into this Release in order to provide certain consideration in full settlement and discharge of all Plaintiff's claims, Chrysler and any other dealership, which are, or might have been, the subject of the alleged defects upon the terms and conditions set forth below other than what is outlined in section 3.0 infra.

- 1.1 In consideration as set forth in section 2.0 of this Release, Plaintiff hereby completely releases and forever discharges Chrysler and any Chrysler dealership from any and all past, present and future claims, demands, obligations, actions, services. expenses, compensation of any nature whatsoever, whether based on a tort, contract, or other theory of recovery, which Plaintiff now has, or may hereafter accrue or otherwise be acquired, on account of, or may, in any way, grow out of, or which is the subject of the vehicle, or any other cause of action of any type, nature or style from the vehicle other than what is outlined in section 3.0 infra. Plaintiff agrees to file a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal with Prejudice as to Chrysler in this case of Edmund Mady v. DaimlerChrysler Corporation and Provident Automotive Leasing Company, Case No. 2005CA007920XXXXMBAO, in the Circuit Court in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, once the issues outlined in section 3.0, infra, have been resolved.
- 3.0 Plaintiff's attorney reserves the right to motion the court for attorney's fees that he contends he is entitled to as a result of his representation of Plaintiff in this case.

(See App. A-1) (emphasis in original).

On or about January 6, 2006 Plaintiff filed his "Notice of Acceptance of Proposal of Settlement." (Vol. 1, pp. 155-157). Plaintiff's "Notice of Acceptance of Proposal of Settlement" detailed:

NOW COMES Plaintiff, Edmund Mady, by and through his attorneys, KROHN & MOSS, LTD., and hereby accepts Defendant's Proposal of Settlement in the amount of EIGHT THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 00/100 (\$8,500.00), exclusive of all interest, costs, and attorney's fees.

Plaintiff reserves the right to move for attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to acceptance of this Proposal of Settlement.

(Vol. 1, pp. 169-200).

On June 30, 2006 Plaintiff filed his Motion for Entitlement to Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (Vol. 1, pp. 169-200). On February 7, 2007 the trial court entered an order denying Plaintiff entitlement to attorney's fees, noting: "Plaintiff has not established that he is a consumer who 'finally prevails' as that term has been defined by the Courts under the fee shifting provisions of the Federal Statutes which form a basis for the suit." (Vol. 2, pp. 213). Plaintiff subsequently appealed the trial court's order. (Vol. 2, pp. 228-230). The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the ruling of the trial court, certifying conflict with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal opinion in *Dufresne v. DaimlerChrysler Corp.*, 975 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008). This appeal follows.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When contemplating the fee shifting provision of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act ("Warranty Act") Congress expressly deemed successful litigation to include settlement. Congress intended that a plaintiff who succeeds in litigation, absent formal legal action or court intervention, is entitled to an award of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Third District Court of Appeal "reasoned to the same result" as the Second District in *Dufresne v. DaimlerChrysler Corp.*, following the decision of the Fourth District in the instant matter. *San Martin and Nelson v. DaimlerChrysler Corporation*, 983 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008).

attorney's fees as a prevailing party. Congress, through explicit direction, made clear that an award of attorney's fees to a plaintiff who "finally prevails" through settlement is proper where litigation is resolved prior commencing formal legal action.

The Warranty Act, as a result of Congress' explicit statutory authorization for an award of attorney's fees to a plaintiff who "finally prevails" through settlement, is removed from the reach of the holding in Buckhannon Bd. & Care Home, Inc., V. W. Va. Dep't Of Health And Human Res. The United States Supreme Court provided a constricted, but important window of escape with regard to the extension of *Buckhannon* to "prevailing party" language utilized in statutes other than the Fair Housing Amendments Act ("FHAA"), or the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"): If Congress offers explicit statutory authority, lower courts may award attorney's fees based upon a lesser "strength of victory" than articulated by the Court in Buckhannon. Contrary to the legislative language found in the FHAA, the ADA, § 1988, and the FOIA, "explicit statutory language" exists within the Warranty Act to warrant departure from the analysis employed in *Buckhannon* specific to construction of the term "prevailing party" as a "legal term of art."

Notwithstanding, judicial imprimatur is a consequence of a proposal for settlement accepted pursuant to section 768.79 of the Florida Statutes, giving rise

to a material alteration of the legal relationship of the parties involved. Judgments on the merits and consent decrees are non-exclusive examples of judicially sanctioned changes creating the necessary judicial imprimatur as required by *Buckhannon*. The necessary judicial approval and oversight emphasized in *Buckhannon*, derived from the court's jurisdiction to control and enforce private contractual settlement, is present in the instant matter. Section 768.79 of the Florida Statutes affords the trial court "full jurisdiction to enforce the settlement and agreement." The resultant judicially enforceable settlement agreement creates a material alteration of the legal relationship between Plaintiff and Defendant, thus, categorically entitling Plaintiff to an award of attorney's fees

Denying a plaintiff prevailing party status, thereby relieving a defendant of its statutorily authorized obligation to remunerate plaintiff's attorney's fees, leads to an absurd result that cannot survive as proper construction where it would render section 768.79 of the Florida Statutes purposeless. Should a plaintiff not be considered a prevailing party, as defined by the Warranty Act, in an action where that plaintiff accepted a proposal for settlement, the unmistakable result of such construction is to discourage settlement and place an increasing burden on the judicial system. Requiring a plaintiff to continue litigation despite an acceptable offer of settlement merely to avoid having to offset attorney's fees against compensation for the loss puts an unnecessary burden on the judicial system.

Moreover, denying plaintiff prevailing party status effectively distorts defendant's proposal of settlement with respect to the exclusivity of attorney's fees, thereby causing it to fail as an effective conveyance mechanism free from ambiguities. Should a plaintiff be precluded from seeking an award of attorney's fees from the trial court, as outlined and contracted for by way of Defendant's proposal for settlement, Defendant's proposal, presented pursuant to section 768.79 of the Florida Statutes, would fail for reason of ambiguity. Specifically, precluding Plaintiff the right to seek an award of attorney's fees transforms Defendant's proposal for settlement exclusive of attorney's fees into an offer inclusive of attorney's fees, making it fundamentally impossible for a plaintiff to evaluate the true terms and conditions of a defendant's offer.

Accounting for such precedent and policy, the Second and Third District Courts of Appeal found that a settlement agreement entered into pursuant to a proposal for settlement is judicially enforceable and that a plaintiff who accepts a proposal for settlement exclusive of attorney's fees is not precluded from claiming entitlement to attorney's fees under the Warranty Act. Contrary to the Second and Third District, the Fourth District, in finding that a plaintiff is precluded from seeking an award of attorney's fees under the warranty act subsequent to accepting a proposal for settlement pursuant to section 768.79 of the Florida Statutes, ignored the clear direction of the court in *Buckhannon* that a final judgment on the merits is

not a prerequisite to an award of attorney's fees pursuant to a federal fee-shifting provision.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue on appeal is whether a plaintiff who accepts a defendant's proposal for settlement pursuant section 768.79 of the Florida Statutes is precluded from seeking attorney's fees under the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act. There is no factual dispute. The issue is one of statutory construction. Construction of a statute is purely a legal question, appropriately subject to de novo review. *Maggio v. Fla. Dep't of Labor & Employment Sec.*, 899 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 2005); *Aramark Unif. & Career Apparel, Inc. v. Easton*, 894 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 2004).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. A PLAINTIFF "FINALLY PREVAILS" UNDER THE FEE SHIFTING PROVISION INCLUDED IN THE MAGNUSON-MOSS WARRANTY ACT WHERE THAT PLAINTIFF IS "SUCCESSFUL IN LITIGATION" THROUGH SETTLEMENT.

Upon enactment in 1975 Congress included a one-way fee-shifting provision in the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act ("Warranty Act"). Section 2310(d)(2) of the Warranty Act provides:

If a consumer finally prevails in any action brought [pursuant to this Act], he may be allowed by the court to recover as part of the judgment a sum equal to the aggregate amount of cost[s] and expenses (including attorneys' fees based on actual time expended) determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred by the plaintiff for or in connection with the

commencement and prosecution of such action, unless the court in its discretion shall determine that such an award of attorney fees would be inappropriate.

15 U.S.C. §2310(d)(2).

When contemplating the fee shifting provision of the Warranty Act Congress expressly deemed successful litigation to include settlement. S. Rep. No. 93-151 (1973). Specifically, the Report of the Senate Committee on Commerce on S. 356, the Magnuson-Moss Warranty-Federal Trade Commission Improvement Act, reads in pertinent part:

Section 110 spells out the remedies available to the purchaser of consumer products. A purchaser can utilize informal dispute settlement procedures established by suppliers or, having afforded a supplier a reasonable opportunity to cure, may resort to formal adversary proceedings with reasonable attorney's fees available if successful in litigation (including settlement).

S.Rep. 93-151 at 22-23 (emphasis added); (App. A-2).

A. Congress Intended That A Plaintiff Who Succeeds In Litigation, Absent Formal Legal Action Or Court Intervention, Is Entitled To An Award Of Attorney's Fees As A Prevailing Party.

The Warranty Act is a federal remedial statute aimed at protecting consumers from unscrupulous warrantors. It was enacted to provide consumers with a remedy against warrantors who failed to live up to obligations set forth in their respective warranties. The legislative history of the Warranty Act shows that Congress deliberately set out to create a federal cause of action containing all the

necessary legal tools to enable an injured consumer to enforce the warranties he or she received on consumer goods.

Included as part of the Warranty Act is a congressional policy declaration to promote the use of informal dispute settlement mechanisms. H.R. Rep. No. 93-1107 (1974). Section 2310 of the Warranty Act provides for informal dispute settlement procedures to be utilized prior to commencement of a civil action. 15 U.S.C 2310(a)(3). The legislative history of the Warranty Act explains that "it is the policy of Congress to encourage the development of informal dispute settlement mechanisms." S. Rep. No. 93-151 (1973). The FTC is not required to review individual disputes or settlements. Id. at 23. Absent review of individual settlements by the FTC, and without resort to formal legal action or court supervision, a plaintiff who "finally prevails" through informal settlement is deemed "successful in litigation" and is entitled to an award of attorney's fees based upon actual time expended. 15 U.S.C. §2310(d)(2); S. Rep. No. 93-151 (1973).

Senate and House Committee conference reports on the proposed Warranty Act indicate that the informal dispute settlement procedures referenced did not preclude access to the courts. "[A]n adverse decision in any informal dispute settlement procedure would not be a bar to a civil action on the warranty involved in the proceeding." H.R. Rep. No. 93-1107 (1974). A prohibition on a complete

roadblock to the legal system is well-defined: "[I]f a consumer chooses to seek redress...the provisions of [the Warranty Act] preserves all alternative avenues of redress, and utilization of any informal dispute settlement mechanism would then not be required by any provision of this Act." S. Rep. No. 93-1408 (1974). Outside of the informal dispute settlement mechanism, the courts are an "alternative avenue[] of redress." *Id*.

Congress, through explicit direction, made clear that an award of attorney's fees to a plaintiff who "finally prevails" through settlement is proper where litigation is resolved prior commencing formal legal action. Indeed, in certain instances a plaintiff may be precluded from seeking relief in a state or federal court prior to initially resorting to an informal dispute resolution procedure. 15 U.S.C. 2310(a)(4). Congress did not treat resort to an informal dispute settlement procedure as a substitute for a plaintiff's private right of action created by the Warranty Act. *Id.* Congress did, however, make clear that an award of attorney's fees is properly awarded where a plaintiff resolves a dispute prior to bringing an action in an appropriate court of law. S. Rep. No. 93-151 (1973). Congress intended that a plaintiff is entitled to attorney's fees as a prevailing party absent formal court intervention, and solely as a direct result of private settlement.

In the instant matter, Plaintiff filed his Complaint against Defendant alleging breach of warranty under the Warranty Act. (Vol. 1, pp. 1-67). Defendant served

Plaintiff with a proposal for settlement pursuant to Section 768.79 of the Florida Statues, and Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442, in the amount of \$8,500.00, exclusive of all interest, costs, and attorney's fees. (Vol. 1, pp. 150). On or about January 6, 2006 Plaintiff filed his "Notice of Acceptance of Proposal of Settlement." (Vol. 1, pp. 155-157). Having afforded Defendant a reasonable a reasonable opportunity to cure the Viper, and in fact subsequent to resort to formal adversary proceedings, Plaintiff succeeded in litigation, as defined by the Warranty Act, through settlement; thus, entitling Plaintiff to an award of attorney's fees.

# B. The Florida Supreme Court Has Repeatedly Held That Statutes Should Be Construed So As To Give Effect To Evident Legislative Intent.

"Legislative intent controls statutory construction." *McGhee v. State*, 847 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). "It is well settled that legislative intent is the polestar that guides a court's statutory construction analysis." *Knowles v. Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc.*, 898 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2004). Courts endeavor to construe statutes to effectuate the intent of the legislature. *Borden v. East-European Ins.* Co., 921 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 2006). Principles for the construction of statutes are designed to ascertain the legislative will and to carry that intent into effect. *Florida Jai Alai, Inc. v. Lake Howell Water & Reclamation Dist.*, 274 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 1973). Rules of statutory construction are subordinate to the principle that

legislative intent controls. *American Bakeries Co. v. Haines City*, 131 Fla. 790, 180 So. 524 (1938).

C. Congress Provided Explicit Statutory Authorization In The Warranty Act For An Award Of Attorney's Fees To A Plaintiff Who "Finally Prevails" Through Settlement, Therefore, Removing The Warranty Act From The Reach Of The Holding In Buckhannon Bd. & Care Home, Inc., v. W. Va. Dep't Of Health And Human Res.

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