IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC08-808

Lower Tribunal No(s).: 4D07-842

EDMUND MADY vs. DAIMLERCHRYSLER

CORPORATION

Petitioner Respondent

RESPONDENT DAIMLERCHRYSLER CORPORATION'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF

APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

John J. Glenn

Florida Bar No.: 957860 **Gregory A. Anderson** Florida Bar No.: 398853 AndersonGlenn, LLC 814 A1A North, Suite 200 Ponte Vedra Beach, FL 32082 Telephone: (904) 273-4734

Facsimile: (904) 273-4712 Attorneys for DaimlerChrysler

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

was based on the "catalyst theory", which holds that a "plaintiff is a 'prevailing party' if it achieves the desired result because the lawsuit brought about a voluntary change in the defendant's conduct." *Id.* The *Buckhannon* petitioners claimed that they were the prevailing party because their conduct in filing suit had forced the State of West Virginia to materially alter its legislative position. *Id.* Additionally, the *Buckhannon* lawsuit claimed that West Virginia "self-preservation" statutes violated the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 ("FHAA") and the American Disabilities Act ("ADA"). *Id.* After suit had been filed, the Virginia legislature enacted legislation eliminating the "self-preservation" statutes that conflicted with the FHAA and ADA. *Id.* Subsequently, the district court dismissed the plaintiffs' suit as moot. *Id.*

The *Buckhannon* plaintiffs moved for an award of prevailing party attorneys' fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3613(c)(2) subsequent to the dismissal of the lawsuit. The district court denied the *Buckhannon* petitioner's motion for attorneys' fees adhering to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals' en banc decision in *S-1 and S-2 v. State Bd. of Ed. of N. C.*, 21 F.3d 49, 51 (C.A. 4 1994). *Id* at 602. On appeal, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals *per curiam* affirmed the district court's ruling. *Id.* The Supreme Court affirmed the Fourth Circuit's decision and stated, "[w]e cannot agree that the term 'prevailing party' authorizes federal courts to award attorneys' fees to a plaintiff who, by simply filing a nonfrivolous

but nonetheless potentially meritless lawsuit (it will never be determined), has reached the 'sought-after destination' without obtaining any judicial relief." Id. at 606. (emphasis added). Accordingly, without a court order that judicially alters the relationship of the parties, the court does not have the authorization to make an award of prevailing party attorneys' fees to a plaintiff. *Id.* at 604. (emphasis added)

Mere settlement between the parties is not enough for an award of prevailing party attorneys' fees. *Id.* Specifically, the terms of any settlement agreement must provide that the defendant agrees to be bound by a judicially ordered consent decree. *Id.* The *Buckhannon* Court further opined:

Private settlements do not entail the judicial approval and oversight involved in consent decrees. And federal jurisdiction to enforce a private contractual settlement will often be lacking *unless the terms of the agreement* are incorporated into the order of dismissal. *Id.* at 604, n.7 *citing Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am.*, 511 U.S. 375, 114 S.Ct. 1673, 128 L.Ed.2d 391 (1994) (emphasis added).

Buckhannon was applied to <u>all</u> federal "prevailing party" fee-shifting statutes.

Buckhannon, 532 U.S. at 603.² Thus, pursuant to Buckhannon, the decision

² See also New England Reg'l Council v. Carpenters v. Kinton, 284 F.3d 9, 30 (1st Cir. 2002) (holding that the plaintiff was not a prevailing party because the district court did not enter an order compelling the defendant to adopt the regulations sought by plaintiff); Union of Needletrades, Indus. and Textile Employees, AFL-CIO, CLC v. U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Serv., 336 F.3d 200, 206 (2d Cir. 2003) (holding that plaintiff was not a prevailing party where the parties reached a settlement and the case was conditionally discontinued subject to the resolution of the issue of attorneys' fees); J.C. v. Regional Sch. Dist. 10, Bd. Of Educ., 278 F.3d 119 (2d Cir. 2002) (establishing that Buckhannon "held that, to be a prevailing party, one must either secure a judgment on the merits or be a party to a settlement agreement that is expressly enforced by the court through a consent decree"); N.Y. State Fed'n of Taxi Drivers, Inc. v. Westchester County Taxi & Limousine Comm'n, 272 F.3d 154, 158-59 (2d Cir. 2001) (reversing grant of fees where the parties entered a private settlement and the district court dismissed the case as moot); John T. v. Delaware County Intermediate Unit, 318 F.3d 545, 560 (3d Cir. 2003) (refusing to follow

reached by the Fourth DCA in *Mady* is correct since the trial court had no involvement whatsoever in the settlement of this matter.

1. Settlement of an alleged breach of warranty suit brought pursuant to the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act does not confer "prevailing party" status to Mady and the Legislative History cited by Mady does not alter this conclusion.

As noted, prevailing party status may only be attained where either a judgment is entered on the merits or a consent decree is ordered. *Buckhannon Bd.* & *Care Home, Inc.*, 532 U.S. at 606. Another federal district court has found that mere settlement of a claim is insufficient to confer prevailing party status pursuant to the MMWA. *Pitchford v. Oakwood Mobile Homes, Inc.*, 212 F. Supp.2d 613, 617 (W.D. Va. 2002) *citing Buckhannon Bd. and Care Home, Inc.*, 532 U.S. at

Bo

Barrios's narrow reading of Buckhannon); Smyth v. Rivero, 282 F.3d 268, 279-81 (4th Cir. 2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 825 (2002) (holding that the district court's order of dismissal was insufficient to confer prevailing party status where the terms of the settlement had not been made part of the court's order and settlement did not require judicial oversight); Toms v. Taft, 338 F.3d 519, 529 (6th Cir. 2003) (holding that private settlement agreements do not confer prevailing party status where there is no judicial oversight in enforcing the settlement and the district court did not issue any order altering the defendant's conduct); Chambers v. Ohio Dep't of Human Servs., 273 F.3d 690, 692 (6th Cir. 2001) (recognizing that Buckhannon overruled case law that adopted the catalyst theory and imposed a requirement of a judicially-sanctioned change for parties to prevail); Crabill v. Trans Union, L.L.C., 259 F.3d 662, 667 (7th Cir. 2001) (recognizing that "[t]he significance of the Buckhannon decision ... [is] its insistence that a plaintiff must obtain formal judicial relief, and not merely 'success,' in order to be deemed a prevailing or successful party under any attorneys' fee provision..."); Christina A. v. Bloomberg, 315 F.3d 990, 993 (8th Cir. 2003) (finding that plaintiffs were not prevailing parties even though the settlement agreement entered into between the parties was approved by the Court pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)); Thomas v. National Science Found., 330 F.3d 486 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (asserting that Buckhannon makes it clear that a party prevails only if there has been a court-ordered change in the legal relationships between the parties); Oil, Chem. & Atomic Workers Int'l Union, AFL-CIO v. Dep't of Energy, 288 F.3d 452, 458 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (holding that a court-endorsed settlement did not meaningfully alter the legal relationship of the parties under Buckhannon because the only effect was to dismiss the union's lawsuit with a court order and because there was nothing left for the district court to oversee); Doe v. Boston Public Sch., 264 F.Supp.2d 65, 72 (D. Mass. 2003); (declining to adopt narrow view of Buckhannon and holding that only parties securing a judicially sanctioned change, i.e., a judgment on the merits or court-ordered consent decree qualify as prevailing parties); J.S. & M.S. v. Ramapo Cent. Sch. Dist., 165 F.Supp.2d 570, 576 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (holding that private settlement agreement that was never read into the record did not render plaintiff a prevailing party).

604. Mady's attempt to circumvent binding precedent through piecemeal legislative statements and reference to case law that is not at all applicable to this case does nothing to undermine the *Buckhannon* holding or the clear language of the MMWA itself. *I.N.S. v. Cardoza-Fonseca*, 480 U.S. 421, 433 n.12 (1987).

Congressional intent is better derived from the words of the statute itself than from a patchwork record of statements inserted by individual legislators and proposals that may never have been adopted by a committee, much less an entire legislative body. Sigmon Coal Co., Inc. v. Apfel, 226 F.3d 291 (4th Cir. 2000), aff'd, 534 U.S. 438 (2002); see also Isle Royale Boaters Ass'n v. Norton, 330 F.3d 777, 784-85 (6th Cir. 2003) (holding that Congressional intent is best derived from the unambiguous text of the statute itself). A single passage in legislative history cited to promote the position of a party is not entitled to authoritative weight if that same passage is not anchored within the text of the statute itself. Shannon v. U.S., 512 U.S. 573, 583 (1994). Courts have no authority to enforce snippets gleaned from legislative history that have no statutory reference point. *Id* at 584. Nowhere in the statute does the MMWA allow for an award of attorneys fees to someone "successful in litigation".

Furthermore, the Senate Report cited by Mady in support of his Petition is littered with unenacted statements and recommendations. A deeper reading of the Report reveals that the description of the different sections of the MMWA in the

Report does not comport with the actual enacted language of the MMWA. *See* S.Rep. 93-151 at 22-24. The Senate Report contains whole sections that were not included within the final enacted MMWA. *Id.* In fact, the Senate Report cites to the definition of an express warranty in Section 110 as set forth in the Uniform Commercial Code, yet there is no such section in the MMWA. *Id.* at 24. The Senate Report also refers to sections 113 and 114 of the MMWA, but neither of these sections is codified in the MMWA. While the Senate Report addresses settlement and attorneys' fees in one parenthetical reference, the applicability of the Report to the MMWA is limited solely to those passages actually contained within the MMWA itself. *Shannon v. United States*, 512 U.S. 573, 583 (1994).

While the *Buckhannon* decision does look to legislative history in its analysis of the term "prevailing party", it is clear that the Court was doubtful the legislative history would overcome what they think is the clear meaning of "prevailing party", the phrase actually used in the Acts at issue there (and in the MMWA). *Id* at 607. Thus, despite recognizing that some of the House and Senate Reports analyzed, referenced the possibility of "prevailing" in *Buckhannon* without a final judgment on the merits or "without formally obtaining relief" (as does the Senate Report at issue for the MMWA), the Court rejected the use of the catalyst theory absent "explicit statutory authority" as espoused by the "American Rule" regarding attorneys fees. *Id* at 607-608. In fact, upon closer analysis of some of

the legislative history at issue in *Buckhannon*, it is obvious the House and Senate Reports actually considered what it meant to "prevail" for the purposes of the federal statutes at issue there. *Id.* Whereas the Senate Committee analysis at issue here merely addressed the availability of attorneys fees under the MMWA if "successful in the litigation". Mady's App. 3 at pp. 22-23. Importantly, the attorney fee provision ultimately enacted in the MMWA allows for fees only if the consumer "finally prevails" not if he is "successful in litigation". Thus, Chrysler submits that this legislative history is in fact more ambiguous then that analyzed by the Court in *Buckhannon*. Accordingly, the history should be disregarded since it is readily apparent that the United States Supreme Court would preclude an award of fees for a settlement under the MMWA absent explicit statutory authority for same. Thus, Mady's argument in this regard should be rejected

Rather than rely on piecemeal legislative history, the court in *Pitchford v*. *Oakwood Mobile Homes, Inc.*, 212 F.Supp.2d 613 (W.D. Va. 2002) applied the Supreme Court precedent of *Buckhannon* to the "prevailing party" issue raised when settlement is reached in a MMWA case. The *Pitchford* Court held that settlement does not confer "prevailing party" status sufficient for an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to the MMWA. *Id.* The *Pitchford* case is directly on point to the issue raised in this matter.

In *Pitchford*, the parties settled a case filed by the plaintiff pursuant to the MWWA. Id. at 615. After settling the case, the plaintiff's attorneys notified the court that the parties had reached a settlement and compromise on plaintiff's substantive claims and were attempting to settle all issues of costs, expenses and attorneys' fees. Thereafter, the plaintiff submitted a status report to the court in which she represented that the parties had failed to resolve informally the issue of costs, expenses, and legal fees. The parties agreed to have the issue of attorneys' fees decided by the court and also agreed to a settlement conference before the During the conference, the magistrate judge entertained magistrate judge. argument and issued a report and recommendation. Id. In his report and recommendation to the district court judge, the magistrate judge hearing the fee issue ruled in favor of the plaintiff and awarded fees in excess of \$50,000.00. Id. The defendant objected to the attorneys' fee award recommended by the magistrate judge on the basis that the plaintiff was not the "prevailing party" because the plaintiff did not receive an award of damages. *Id*.

In its review of the magistrate's recommendation, the district court analyzed *Buckhannon's* "prevailing party" standard against the MMWA and the MMWA's "finally prevails" standard. *Id.* at 617-19. After this review, the *Pitchford* Court held that the plaintiff did not "finally prevail" as required under the MMWA because the plaintiff settled the case. *Id.* The court held that the settlement

agreement entered into between the parties was not sufficient to create the "finally prevails" status necessary for an award of attorneys' fees under the MMWA. Id. The court also examined the terms of the settlement agreement and recognized that the settlement agreement contained no stipulation to entitlement to attorneys' fees, and instead, as was the case in Mady, merely allowed the plaintiff to seek entitlement to attorneys' fees. *Id.* at 620. The *Pitchford* court held that pursuant to the Supreme Court's decision in Buckhannon, the MMWA and its "finally prevails" standard requires a plaintiff to either obtain a judgment on the merits or have a consent decree entered in his favor before attorneys' fees may be awarded. Id. Settlement does not meet this standard. Id.; see also Coey, 2005 WL 289457 at *5 (citing *Buckhannon* and awarding no attorneys' fees in MMWA case to plaintiff who won jury verdict but was awarded no damages); Stenger v. LLC Corp., 819 N.E.2d 480, 482 (Ind. App. 2004) (rejecting, pursuant to Buckhannon, claim for attorneys' fees after settlement that did not provide for attorneys' fees was reached in MMWA case); Nat'l Coalition for Students with Disabilities v. Bush, 173 F.Supp.2d 1272, 1278-79 (N.D. Fla. 2001) (citing Buckhannon as disallowing fees for "private settlements"). Where there is no final judgment entered on the merits and no order of a consent decree, a settlement agreement is insufficient to confer prevailing party status pursuant to the MMWA.

A recent case out of the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit also followed the holding in *Buckhannon*. The case of *Morillo-Cedron v. District Director for the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services*, 452 F3d 1254, 1258 (11th Cir. 2006) addresses the proposition that a plaintiff cannot be considered a "prevailing party" under a federal fee shifting statute unless the plaintiff litigates the case to a final judgment or obtains a court-ordered change in the legal relationship between the plaintiff and the defendant.

In *Morillo-Cedron*, the plaintiffs filed suit in federal district court for mandamus relief when the District Director for the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services failed to act in accordance with the direction of the Administrative Appeals Office ("AAO") which ordered the Director to follow AAO rulings in relation to the plaintiffs who were applicants for lawful permanent residency. *Id.* at 1255. The plaintiffs sought attorneys' fees pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2412(d), the Equal Access to Justice Act ("EAJA"). *Id.* The district court issued an order to show cause as to why mandamus relief should not be granted. *Id.* In response, the defendant government voluntarily granted lawful permanent resident status to the plaintiffs. *Id.* The district court then issued an interim order requiring the defendant to proceed on the plaintiffs' residency status. *Id.*

The district court issued an order denying the request for mandamus relief since same was moot as a result of defendant's voluntary action. *Id.* However, the

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